

Title 16 : Education

Chapter 003 : State Board Of Education

Subchapter 001 : General Provisions

(Cite as: 16 V.S.A. § 165)

§ 165. Education quality standards; equal educational opportunities; independent school meeting education quality standards

(a) In order to carry out Vermont's policy that all Vermont children will be afforded educational opportunities that are substantially equal in quality, each Vermont public school, including each career technical center, shall meet the following education quality standards:

(1) The school, through a process including parents, teachers, students, and community members, develops, implements, and annually updates a continuous improvement plan to improve student performance within the school. The plan shall include goals and objectives for improved student learning and educational strategies and activities to achieve its goals. The plan shall also address the effectiveness of efforts made since the previous continuous improvement plan to ensure the school maintains a safe, orderly, civil, and positive learning environment that is free from harassment, hazing, and bullying. The school shall assess student performance under the plan using a method or methods of assessment developed under subdivision 164(9) of this title.

(2) The school, at least annually, reports student performance results to community members in a format selected by the school board. In the case of a regional career technical center, the community means the school districts in the service region. The school report shall include:

(A) Information indicating progress toward meeting standards from the most recent measure taken.

(B) [Repealed.]

(C) Information indicating progress toward meeting the goals of an annual continuous improvement plan.

(D) Any other statistical information about the school or community that the school board deems necessary to place student performance results in context.

(E)-(G) [Repealed.]

Commented [FA1]: Reviewed by the AOE and part of the Integrated Field Review

Commented [FA2]: Captured in the Academic Proficiency Domain
ELA Assessment
Math Assessment
Science Assessment
Fitness Assessment
Career and College Ready Assessments

Commented [FA3]: Focus of the Integrated Field Review

Commented [FA4]: This is why we created the 4 other Domains to push schools to look at key drivers of improvement

(H) A description of how the school ensures that each student receives appropriate career counseling and program information regarding availability of education and apprenticeship program offerings at career technical centers.

Commented [FA5]: Focus of the Integrated Field Review

(I) [Repealed.]

(J) If the school is a secondary school, information and supporting data presented in a manner designed to protect student confidentiality on the dropout and graduation rates.

Commented [FA6]: Included in the Academic Proficiency Domain

(K) Data provided by the Secretary that enable a comparison with other schools, or school districts if school level data are not available, for cost-effectiveness. The Secretary shall establish which data are to be included pursuant to this subdivision and, notwithstanding that the other elements of the report are to be presented in a format selected by the school board, shall develop a common format to be used by each school in presenting the data to community members. The Secretary shall provide the most recent data available to each school no later than October 1 of each year. Data to be presented include student-to-teacher ratio, administrator-to-student ratio, administrator-to-teacher ratio, and cost per pupil.

Commented [FA7]: These are in the Investment Priorities Domain

(3) The school substantially meets standards adopted by rule of the State Board regarding conditions, practices and resources of schools. The standards shall address those aspects of the following that are most closely associated with improving student performance:

(A) school leadership, staffing, and support services;

Commented [FA8]: In the High Quality Staffing and Investment Priorities Domain

(B) instructional practices and curriculum leadership, content, and coordination;

Commented [FA9]: Focus of the Integrated Field Review

(C) educational materials and school facilities;

Commented [FA10]: Focus of the Integrated Field Review

(D) access to current technology.

Commented [FA11]: Focus of the Integrated Field Review

(4) The school shall provide for and the staff shall use needs-based professional development designed to improve the quality of education provided to the students and directly connected to standards for student performance established by the State Board and any other educational performance goals established by the school board.

Commented [FA12]: In the High Quality Staffing Domain

(5) The school uses staff evaluation to advance educational performance objectives.

Commented [FA13]: In the High Quality Staffing Domain

(6) The school ensures that students receive appropriate career counseling and program information regarding the availability of education and apprenticeship program offerings at career technical centers. In addition, the school, if it is a secondary school, offers a genuine opportunity to access career technical education programs.

Commented [FA14]: Access to CTE assessed through Personalization Domain; Career Counseling is assessed through proxy of staffing in High Quality Staffing

(7) The school ensures that students are furnished educational services in accordance with any State or federal entitlements and in a nondiscriminatory manner.

Commented [FA15]: The Equity Index addresses this

(8) The school maintains a safe, orderly, civil, and positive learning environment that is free from hazing, harassment, and bullying, and is based on sound instructional and classroom

management practices and clear discipline policies that are consistently and effectively enforced.

[Subsection (b) effective until July 1, 2020; see also subsection (b) effective July 1, 2020 set out below.]

(b) Annually, the Secretary shall determine whether students in each Vermont public school are provided educational opportunities substantially equal to those provided in other public schools. If the Secretary determines that a school is not meeting the education quality standards listed in subsection (a) of this section or that the school is making insufficient progress in improving student performance in relation to the standards for student performance set forth in subdivision 164(9) of this title, he or she shall describe in writing actions that a district must take in order to meet either or both sets of standards and shall provide technical assistance to the school. If the school fails to meet the standards or make sufficient progress within two years of the determination, the Secretary shall recommend to the State Board one or more of the following actions:

- (1) continue technical assistance;
- (2) adjust supervisory union boundaries or responsibilities of the superintendency;
- (3) assume administrative control only to the extent necessary to correct deficiencies; or
- (4) close the school and require that the school district pay tuition to another public school or an approved independent school pursuant to chapter 21 of this title.

[Subsection (b) effective July 1, 2020; see also subsection (b) effective until July 1, 2020 set out above.]

(b) Annually, the Secretary shall determine whether students in each Vermont public school are provided educational opportunities substantially equal to those provided in other public schools. If the Secretary determines that a school is not meeting the education quality standards listed in subsection (a) of this section or that the school is making insufficient progress in improving student performance in relation to the standards for student performance set forth in subdivision 164(9) of this title, he or she shall describe in writing actions that a district must take in order to meet either or both sets of standards and shall provide technical assistance to the school. If the school fails to meet the standards or make sufficient progress within two years of the determination, the Secretary shall recommend to the State Board one or more of the following actions:

- (1) the Agency continue to provide technical assistance for one more cycle of review;
- (2) the State Board adjust supervisory union boundaries or responsibilities of the superintendency pursuant to section 261 of this title;

Commented [FA16]: Captured by exclusionary discipline data and school climate in Safe, Healthy Schools Domain; also a key focus of Integrated Field Reviews.

(3) the Secretary assume administrative control of an individual school, school district, or supervisory union, including budgetary control to ensure sound financial practices, only to the extent necessary to correct deficiencies;

(4) the State Board close an individual school or schools and require that the school district pay tuition to another public school or an approved independent school pursuant to chapter 21 of this title; or

(5) the State Board require two or more school districts to consolidate their governance structures.

(c) The State Board, after offering the school board an opportunity for a hearing, shall either dismiss the Secretary's recommendation or order that one or more of the actions listed in subsection (b) of this section be taken. The action ordered by the State Board shall be the least intrusive consistent with the need to provide students attending the school substantially equal educational opportunities. A school board aggrieved by an order of the State Board may appeal the order in accordance with the Rules of Civil Procedure.

(d) Nothing in this section shall be construed to entitle any student to educational programs or services identical to those received by students in the same or any other school district. Further, nothing in this section shall create a private right of action.

(e) If the Secretary determines at any time that the failure of a school to meet the education quality standards listed in subsection (a) of this section is severe or pervasive, potentially results in physical or emotional harm to students, or significant deprivation of equal education opportunities, and the school has either unreasonably refused to remedy the problem or its efforts have proved ineffective, he or she may recommend to the State Board one or more of the actions listed in subsection (b) of this section. The State Board shall then follow the procedure of subsection (c) of this section.

(f) In order to be designated an independent school meeting education quality standards, an independent school shall participate in the education quality standards process of subsection (b) of this section. An independent school shall receive technical assistance in accordance with the provisions of subsection (b), but shall not be subject to subdivisions (b)(2)-(4) of this section. The school shall be an independent school meeting education quality standards unless the State Board, after opportunity for hearing, finds that:

(1) the school has discontinued its participation in the education quality standards process; or

(2) two or more years following a determination that the school is not meeting the education quality standards or that the school is making insufficient progress in improving student performance, the school fails to meet the standards or make sufficient progress toward meeting the standards.

Vermont State Board of Education

Education Quality Standards

State Board Rule 2000

Prepared for adoption on December 17, 2013

The purpose of these rules is to ensure that all students in Vermont public schools are afforded educational opportunities that are substantially equal in quality, and enable them to achieve or exceed the standards approved by the State Board of Education.



State of Vermont
Board of Education
120 State Street
Montpelier, VT 05620-2501

[phone] 802-828-5101
[fax] 802-828-3140

Agency of Education

Table of Contents

2000 Education Quality Standards

2100 Statutory Authority

2110 Statement of Purpose

2111 Adoption of Performance Standards

2112 Education Quality Standards

2113 Federal and State Entitlements; Nondiscrimination

2114 Definitions

2120 Curriculum and Instruction

2120.1 Instructional Practices

2120.2 Flexible Pathways

2120.3 Career and Technical Education

2120.4 Personalized Learning Plans

2120.5 Curriculum Content

2120.6 Curriculum Coordination

2120.7 Graduation Requirements

2120.8 Local Graduation Requirements

2121 Professional Resources

2121.1 School Leadership

2121.2 Staff

2121.3 Needs-Based Professional Learning

2121.4 Staff Evaluation

2121.5 Tiered System of Support

2121.6 Interagency Teams

2122 Learning Environment

2122.1 School Facilities and the Learning Environment

2122.2 Access to Instructional Materials

2123 State and Local Comprehensive Assessment System

2123.1 Participation in State Comprehensive Assessment System

2123.2 Development and Implementation of Local Comprehensive Assessment System

2124 Reporting of Results

2125 Continuous Improvement Plan

2126 System for Determining Compliance with Education Quality Standards

2126.1 Filing of Continuous Improvement Plan

2126.2 Review, Secretary's Recommendations, and State Board Action

2126.3 Further Review; Secretary's Recommendations; State Board Action

2127 Variance and Waiver

2128 Effective Date

DRAFT

2000 Education Quality Standards

2100 Statutory Authority: 16 V.S.A. §§164 and 165

2110 Statement of Purpose

The purpose of these rules is to ensure that all students in Vermont public schools are afforded educational opportunities that are substantially equal in quality, and enable them to achieve or exceed the standards approved by the State Board of Education.

These rules are designed to ensure continuous improvement in student performance, instruction and leadership to enable students to attain rigorous standards in high-quality programs.

Nothing herein shall be construed to entitle any student to educational programs or services identical to those received by other students in the same or different school districts. Further, nothing herein shall create a private right of action. These rules are in addition to and, unless otherwise specifically stated, do not supersede other rules contained in the Vermont State Board of Education Manual of Rules and Practices.

2111 Adoption of Performance Standards

Pursuant to 16 V.S.A. §164(9), the State Board of Education will implement and periodically update standards for student learning in appropriate content areas from kindergarten to grade 12. Supervisory union boards shall use the standards as the basis for the development and selection of curriculum, methods of instruction, locally developed assessments, and the content and skills taught and learned in school.

2112 Education Quality Standards

In order to carry out Vermont's policy that all public school children will be afforded educational opportunities which are substantially equal in quality, and in order to ensure continuous improvement in student performance, each public school shall meet the following education quality standards, and annually report to the community in an understandable and comprehensive form as required in 16 V.S.A. §165(a)(2).

Commented [FA1]: Snapshot assesses student performance in ELA, Math, Science and Fitness that are all aligned to adopted standards

Integrated Field Review looks at these items as implemented.

Commented [FA2]: The Snapshot will provide information that helps schools to address this.

2113 Federal and State Entitlements; Nondiscrimination

Each school or supervisory union shall ensure that students are furnished educational and other services in accordance with state and federal entitlements and requirements.

Commented [FA3]: Captured in the federal assurances

No student in a public school or independent school shall be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subject to discrimination under any educational program or activity as the result of, or based upon, the student's race, gender, color, creed, national origin, marital status, sexual orientation, gender identity or disability, or any other reason set forth in state or federal non-discrimination requirements.

Commented [FA4]: Captured in the federal assurances for public schools.

Each supervisory union shall develop, and each school shall implement, a system of maintaining student records that aligns with Agency of Education statewide data collections; which enables accurate and timely reporting in connection with state and federal data collection requirements; and ensures the accuracy, relevancy and confidentiality thereof, and accessibility thereto; and which is in compliance with the federal Family Education Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 (P.L. 95-380 as amended from time to time).

Student records shall be safely retained. For grades 9-12, the transcripts of graduates and dropouts shall be permanently maintained and the academic records may be permanently maintained.

Commented [FA5]: This is not assessed through the Snapshot or through the Integrated Field Review. Compliance with data submission requirements including assessments, census, and financial reporting check to make sure that this is occurring.

Each school shall adopt and implement policies consistent with the federal Protection of Pupil Rights Act (20 U.S.C. §1232h) regarding surveys, analyses and evaluations.

Commented [FA6]: Captured in federal assurances.

2114 Definitions

The following definitions shall apply to these rules unless the context clearly requires otherwise:

1. "Academic record" may include standardized test scores, dates of attendance, alternate graduation plan, Personalized Learning Plan, rank in class, awards, activities, clubs and other information not included in a student's transcript, as locally determined.
2. "Applied learning" means the presentation of subject matter in a way that integrates a particular academic discipline (such as mathematics, science or English) with life experiences both in school and out of school and with personal workforce applications.
3. "Appropriately licensed educator" means any teacher or administrator requiring a license under 16 V.S.A. Chapter 51 and in accordance with the Rules Governing the Licensing of Educators and the Preparation of Educational Professionals.

4. "Career and Technical Education" means an educational program that supports attainment of a high school diploma, designed to provide students with technical knowledge, skills and aptitudes that will prepare them for further education and enhance their employment options or lead to an industry-recognized credential.
5. "College and Career Readiness" means the student's ability to enter the workforce or pursue postsecondary education or training without the need for remediation. The student must possess the foundational skills and learning strategies necessary to begin studies in a career pathway in order to be considered college and career ready.
6. "Educational Technology" means instruction and/or preparation in the appropriate use of current technology to provide students with the knowledge and skills needed to communicate, solve problems, and to access, manage, integrate, evaluate and create information.
7. "Mentoring" means the pairing of a mentor with an educator who is either new to the profession or new to the school in order to provide training, orientation, assistance and support. Further, for the purposes of this rule, a "mentor" is an educator who has demonstrated high-quality instructional practice and who has been provided training in mentoring.
8. "Needs-based professional learning" means staff learning based upon needs identified through an examination of student performance and organizational and instructional data, and which is aligned with the school's Continuous Improvement Plan.
9. "Personalized Learning Plan" means a plan developed on behalf of a student by the student, a representative of the school, and, if the student is a minor, the student's parents or legal guardian, and updated at least annually. The plan shall be developmentally appropriate and shall reflect the student's emerging abilities, aspirations, interests and dispositions. Beginning no later than in the seventh grade, the plan shall define the scope and rigor of academic and experiential opportunities necessary for the student to successfully complete secondary school and attain college and career readiness.
10. "Proficiency-based learning" and "proficiency-based graduation" refers to systems of instruction, assessment, grading and academic reporting that are based on students demonstrating mastery of the knowledge and skills they are expected to learn before they progress to the next lesson, get promoted to the next grade level, or receive a diploma.
11. "School" means an organizational structure designed to facilitate student learning. This could include an individual public school building or a combination of public school buildings with one administration, either of which could include learning opportunities both within and outside of the school building and school day. Where the context suggests that a "school" take some

action, the action shall be taken by the superintendent or such school officials as are designated by the superintendent, unless otherwise specified herein or elsewhere in law or regulation. "School" includes a technical center.

12. "Secretary" means the Secretary of Education or his or her designee.
13. "Superintendent" means the superintendent of schools or person or persons assigned the duties of a superintendent pursuant to 16 V.S.A. §242.
14. "Supervisory union" means an administrative, planning, and educational service unit created by the State Board of Education, which consists of two or more school districts, including a supervisory district. For the purpose of these rules, supervisory union also means a supervisory district which consists of only one school district, which may be a unified union district.
15. "Technology Integration" means the infusion of technology into the curriculum as a tool to enhance learning in a content area or multidisciplinary setting, enabling students to select technology tools to help them obtain information in a timely manner, analyze and synthesize the information, and present it professionally.
16. "Transcript" means a formal document certifying and documenting a student's or former student's achievement of state standards and at minimum includes the student's name, date of birth, last known address, years of attendance, courses taken, out-of-school learning opportunities if applicable, and diploma or certificate of completion awarded.
17. "Transferable skills" refers to a broad set of knowledge, skills, work habits, and character traits that are believed to be critically important to success in today's world, particularly in collegiate programs and modern careers.

2120 Curriculum and Instruction

2120.1 Instructional Practices

Instructional practices shall promote personalization for each student, and enable each student to successfully engage in the curriculum and meet the graduation requirements. Classroom instruction shall include a range of research-based instructional practices that most effectively improve student learning, as identified by national and Vermont guidance and locally collected and analyzed student data.

2120.2 Flexible Pathways

Schools must provide students the opportunity to experience learning through flexible and multiple pathways, including but not limited to career and technical education, virtual learning, work-based learning, service learning, dual enrollment and early

Commented [FA7]: Snapshot- no direct measure

Integrated Field Reviews examine the opportunities for student personalization and instructional strategies.

State Board Rule 2000 Education Quality Standards

college. Learning must occur under the supervision of an appropriately licensed educator. Learning expectations must be aligned with state expectations and standards.

Students must be allowed to demonstrate proficiency by presenting multiple types of evidence, including but not limited to teacher- or student-designed assessments, portfolios, performances, exhibitions and projects.

2120.3 Career and Technical Education

Schools serving grades 9-12 shall coordinate with their designated career and technical education center to ensure genuine access and support for all eligible students as required in 16 V.S.A. 1541a.

Schools shall ensure that students receive appropriate career counseling and program information regarding the availability of education and apprenticeship program offerings at career and technical centers. Demonstrations of learning such as credits or grades earned in an approved career and technical education course or program are subject to the requirements of 16 V.S.A. §1545.

2120.4 Personalized Learning Plans

As required in 16 V.S.A. 941, schools shall ensure all students in grades seven through 12 shall have a Personalized Learning Plan, which shall be a written document developed by the student, a representative of the school and, if the student is a minor, the student's parent or legal guardian. The Personalized Learning Plan shall describe the scope and rigor of learning opportunities and support services necessary for the student to achieve college and career readiness prior to graduation, and to attain a high school diploma. This plan must be reviewed at least annually.

This section is effective in accordance with the rolling implementation dates established in Section 14 of Act 77 of 2013, as may be amended.

2120.5 Curriculum Content

Each supervisory union board shall ensure the written and delivered curriculum within their supervisory union is aligned with the standards approved by the State Board of Education. Each school shall enable students to engage annually in rigorous, relevant and comprehensive learning opportunities that allows them to demonstrate proficiency in

- a. literacy (including critical thinking, language, reading, speaking and listening, and writing);
- b. mathematical content and practices (including numbers, operations, and the concepts of algebra and geometry by the end of grade 10);

Commented [FA8]: AOE licensing works with Supts to ensure all public school educators are licensed and undergo a rigorous background checks.

Commented [FA9R8]: Snapshot- Captured in the personalization Domain with two indicators- the percent of students participating in one or more of these and the number of these offered at a school

Integrated Field Review examines how schools provide these multiple pathways to students

Commented [FA10]: Snapshot- no direct measure

Integrated Field Review- commonly assessed through observation and interviews.

Commented [FA11]: Snapshot- In Academic Proficiency- the number of students showing CTE certification and in Personalization for flexible pathways and in Investment Priorities staffing ratio for counselor

Integrated Field Review-focus of observations and interviews

Commented [FA12]: Snapshot- Personalization Domain as part of student response to climate survey

Integrated Field Review- focus of observations and interviews

Commented [FA13]: Snapshot- In Academic Proficiency- literacy, math, science and fitness

Integrated Field Review-focus of observations and interviews

State Board Rule 2000 Education Quality Standards

- c. scientific inquiry and content knowledge (including the concepts of life sciences, physical sciences, earth and space sciences and engineering design);
- d. global citizenship (including the concepts of civics, economics, geography, world language, cultural studies and history);
- e. physical education and health education as defined in 16 V.S.A. §131;
- f. artistic expression (including visual, media and performing arts); and
- g. transferable skills (including communication, collaboration, creativity, innovation, inquiry, problem solving and the use of technology).

Each school shall provide students in grades K-8 with at least two physical education classes per week. Each school shall provide students in grades 9-12 with one and one-half years of physical education or the equivalent thereof.

Each school shall offer options for students in grades K-12 to participate in at least 30 minutes of physical activity within or outside of the school day. Physical activity may include recess and movement built into the curriculum, but does not replace physical education classes.

Each school shall provide appropriate learning opportunities to all students to support their attainment of the standards approved by the State Board of Education. As required in 16 V.S.A. §2902, each public school shall provide support for students who require additional assistance in order to succeed or be challenged in the general education environment.

Each school shall provide comprehensive elementary and secondary health and physical education learning experiences, including the effects of tobacco, alcohol and drugs on the human system for all students in accordance with sections 16 V.S.A. § 131 and §906(b)(3).

Each school shall ensure students are able to access academic and experiential learning opportunities that reflect their emerging abilities, interests and aspirations, as outlined in the students' Personalized Learning Plans.

2120.6 Curriculum Coordination

As required by 16 V.S.A. §261a(a)(1), the board of each supervisory union shall ensure that each school implements the supervisory union's written and delivered curriculum, which shall be

- a. aligned with the standards approved by the State Board of Education;
- b. coordinated across all grades to prepare students for graduation;
- c. coordinated across the supervisory union, including sending high schools and technical centers;
- d. informed by ongoing review of new research, changing learning opportunities, and updates to the standards approved by the State Board of

Commented [FA14]: Snapshot- Fitness assessment
Integrated Field Review-focus of observations and interviews

Commented [FA15]: Snapshot- No direct assessment
Integrated Field Review-focus of observations and interviews related to Safe, Healthy Schools and MTSS implementation

Commented [FA16]: Snapshot- Fitness assessment
Integrated Field Review-focus of observations and interviews related to Safe, Healthy Schools and MTSS implementation

Commented [FA17]: Snapshot- No direct assessment
Integrated Field Review-focus of observations and interviews related to Personalization

State Board Rule 2000 Education Quality Standards

Education;

- e. designed to enable all students to achieve the graduation requirements; and
- f. integrated with technology across all disciplines.

Each school with a pre-kindergarten early education program must offer high-quality programs as outlined in State Board Rule 2600.

2120.7 Graduation Requirements

A student meets the requirements for graduation when the student demonstrates evidence of proficiency in the curriculum outlined in 2120.5, and completion of any other requirements specified by the local board of the school attended by the student.

This requirement is effective no later than September 2014 for students entering seventh grade and through their secondary school progression, for the anticipated graduation date of June 2020, and with each subsequent incoming seventh grade class.

For students eligible for special education services under IDEA or protected by Section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation Act, the student shall meet the same graduation requirements as non-disabled peers in an accommodated and/or modified manner. These modifications will be documented in each student's Personalized Learning Plan.

The Individual Education Program (IEP) team or 504 Team is responsible for assuring that information regarding the student's individual skills, aptitudes and present levels of performance are incorporated into the student's Personalized Learning Plan. This shall ensure that the proficiency levels to meet graduation requirements are linked to local graduation requirements, individually accommodated and/or modified for students with disabilities, and written into the student's Personalized Learning Plan.

This process shall ensure that any student identified as a student with a disability will receive a regular high school diploma after meeting his/her individual graduation requirements as outlined in their Personalized Learning Plan. The development of an IEP does not supplant a Personalized Learning Plan, nor does a Personalized Learning Plan replace an IEP.

2120.8 Local Graduation Requirements

Each secondary school board is responsible for setting graduation requirements in accordance with these rules.

Local graduation policy must define proficiency-based graduation requirements based on standards adopted by the State Board of Education. As required in 16 V.S.A. 261a(a)(1), it is the responsibility of the supervisory union board to ensure alignment in expectations for all students within a supervisory union.

Schools may or may not use credits for the purposes of demonstrating that a student

Commented [FA18]: Snapshot- No direct assessment

Integrated Field Review-focus of observations and interviews related to Academic Proficiency

Commented [FA19]: Snapshot- No direct assessment

Integrated Field Review-focus of observations and interviews

Commented [FA20]: Snapshot- No direct assessment

Integrated Field Review-focus of observations and interviews related to Academic Proficiency

Commented [FA21]: Snapshot- No direct assessment

Integrated Field Review-focus of observations and interviews related to Academic Proficiency

State Board Rule 2000 Education Quality Standards

has met the graduation requirements. When used, credits must specify the proficiencies demonstrated in order to attain a credit and shall not be based on time spent in learning. Further, students may receive credit for learning that takes place outside of the school, the school day, or the classroom. Any credits earned must occur under the supervision of an appropriately licensed educator.

2121 Professional Resources

2121.1 School Leadership

The roles and responsibilities of the school's leadership, including the school board, superintendent and principal or career and technical center director shall conform to applicable provisions in 16 V.S.A. regarding authority and duties.

All school leaders must have sufficient time to carry out their responsibilities in order to focus on improving student learning. To accomplish that, the superintendent or his or her designee must:

- a. supervise a licensed principal who shall be responsible for the day-to-day leadership of the school;
- b. create a school leadership team consisting of administrators and teachers (and students as appropriate) with compensation either in time or financial reimbursement or a combination of both for all teachers;
- c. create professional learning groups for all teachers that meet during school time at least two hours per month and are facilitated by trained teachers;
- d. coordinate the principal's schedule to enable him/her to engage in student learning, such as:
 1. teaching a course or hosting an advisory with students;
 2. mentoring a group of students in developing their Personalized Learning Plans;
 3. providing support for students through support services; or
 4. other methods of student engagement as approved by the superintendent.
- e. provide teacher support and evaluation aligned with the guidelines approved by the State Board of Education; and
- f. minimize, as much as possible, supervision of non-teaching staff by the principal.

The principal shall be answerable to the superintendent in the performance of his or her duties.

Schools with 10 or more full-time equivalent teachers shall employ a full-time licensed principal. Schools with fewer than 10 FTE teachers shall employ a licensed principal on a pro-rata basis.

Commented [FA22]: Snapshot- No direct assessment
Integrated Field Review-focus of observations and interviews related to Academic Proficiency

Commented [FA23]: Snapshot- No direct assessment
Integrated Field Review-focus of observations and interviews related to High Quality Staffing

Commented [FA24]: Snapshot- Investment Priorities staffing ratios
Integrated Field Review-focus of observations and interviews related to role of principal

2121.2 Staff

As required in 16 V.S.A. §1692, all professional staff shall be licensed and appropriately endorsed for their assignment. All classroom staff, including educational support personnel, shall have had adequate academic preparation and training to teach or provide services in the area to which they are assigned.

Each school shall employ instructional and administrative staff members who possess the knowledge and skills to implement the standards in alignment with professional educator standards established by the Vermont Standards Board for Professional Educators.

Each supervisory union shall employ licensed special education staff, and shall ensure each school employs sufficient and qualified staff as needed to identify students eligible for special education services and to implement each eligible student's Individual Education Program and Section 504 plan.

Classes in grades K-3, when taken together, shall average fewer than 20 students per teacher. In grades 4-12, when taken together, classes shall average fewer than 25 students per teacher. The total class roll of a teacher shall not exceed 100 students, except where the specific nature of the teacher's assignment (such as in certain art, music, or physical education programs) is plainly adaptable to the teaching of greater numbers of students while meeting the educational goals of the program.

School boards must establish optimum class size policies as consistent with statutory guidance from the Agency of Education. Class size must comply with state and federal safety requirements.

The services of a certified library media specialist shall be made available to students and staff. Schools with over 300 students shall have at least one full-time library media specialist and sufficient staff to implement a program that supports literacy, information and technology standards. Schools with fewer than 300 students shall employ a library media specialist on a pro-rata basis.

Commented [FA25]: Snapshot-High Quality Staffing- The percent of courses taught by appropriately licensed people

Commented [FA26]: Snapshot-Investment Priorities- Part of the ratio calculation

Commented [FA27]: Snapshot-Not directly assessed
Integrated Field Review- Assessed through interviews and artifacts

Commented [FA28]: Snapshot- part of the staffing ratio in Investment Priorities

2121.3 Needs-Based Professional Learning

Each supervisory union shall develop and implement a system of appropriate needs-based professional learning for all professional staff, including administrators and other staff involved in student instruction, as required in 16 V.S.A. §261a(a)(5). Time for professional learning should be embedded into the school day.

The school's professional learning system shall be aligned with its staff evaluation and supervision policies, Continuous Improvement Plan, supervisory union and district goals, and shall provide new staff members with appropriate opportunities for professional learning.

Mentoring shall be a component of each supervisory union's needs-based professional learning system. The superintendent or their designee shall determine the specifics of each mentoring program in their school(s) in accordance with the guidelines set by the State Board of Education, Vermont Standards Board for Professional Educators, and state law addressing mentoring for educators.

Commented [FA29]: Snapshot- Part of High Quality Staffing Domain through teacher responses to PD and Evaluation Questions

Integrated Field Review- Review of evaluation documentation along with interviews regarding PD and evaluation

Commented [FA30]: Snapshot- No formal measure

Integrated Field Review- Interviews and observations

2121.4 Staff Evaluation

For the purposes of this section, "staff" includes administrators, educators, and other school employees working with students.

Staff evaluation programs and policies shall be designed and implemented with the goal of improved student outcomes. Such programs and policies shall

- a. be consistent with the provisions of state and federal law and the Vermont Guidelines of Teacher and Leader Effectiveness adopted by the State Board of Education;
- b. include multiple sources of evidence to inform and measure teacher performance;
- c. address the professional learning needs of all staff, including administrators;
- d. address the needs of teachers who are new to the profession, the assignment or the school;
- e. provide supports to improve instructional practice, content knowledge, working relationships (with colleagues, parents and community members), and other areas as appropriate.

Commented [FA31]: Snapshot- Part of High Quality Staffing Domain through teacher responses to PD and Evaluation Questions

Integrated Field Review- Review of evaluation documentation along with interviews regarding PD and evaluation

2121.5 Tiered System of Support

In accordance with 16 V.S.A. §2902 and State Board Rule 2194, each school shall ensure that a tiered system of academic and behavioral supports is in place to assist all students in working toward attainment of the standards. This system shall be aligned with the school's Personalized Learning Plan structures, and specific student support

State Board Rule 2000 Education Quality Standards

services shall be specified within a student's Personalized Learning Plan.

School counseling services shall support the mission and vision of the school and shall be available to all students K-12. The school counseling services shall address students' academic, career, personal and social development. Such services shall be aligned and integrated with the work of other professionals in the school setting, as well as those in other educational and human services.

Commented [FA32]: Snapshot- No formal measure
Integrated Field Review- Observations and interviews

Staffing shall be filled by licensed school counselors and other student support personnel with sufficient staff to carry out the school counseling services, such as guidance counselors, Student Assistance Program counselors, home-school coordinators, English-as-a-Second-Language coordinators and school-based clinicians. At the elementary level, there shall be no more than 300 students per school counselor and other student support personnel. Schools with fewer than 300 students shall employ a school counselor and other student support personnel on a pro-rata basis. At the secondary level, there shall be no more than 200 students per school counselor and other student support personnel.

Commented [FA33]: Snapshot- Part of Investment
Priorities Domain through ratios
Integrated Field Review- Observations and interviews
This is also assessed through the annual MTSS survey

Health services, including health appraisal and counseling, communicable disease control, mental health, and emergency and first aid care, shall be made available in a confidential manner to students in each school. These health services shall be delivered in accordance with the school district's written policies and procedures, which shall be developed in collaboration with parents and community health resources.

Commented [FA34]: Snapshot- No formal measure
Integrated Field Review- Observations and Interviews

The Vermont Department of Health recommends that schools and supervisory unions implement the School Nurse Leader School Health Services Delivery Model, which is consistent with the principles of the national Coordinated School Health Model, to ensure appropriate access and coverage across their district or supervisory union.

Each school shall engage the services of a person licensed as a School Nurse or Associate School Nurse. There shall be no more than 500 students per school nurse. Schools with fewer than 500 students shall employ a nurse on a pro-rata basis.

Commented [FA35]: Snapshot- Included in the
Investment Priorities staffing ratios

The school shall comply with requirements of state law relative to vision and hearing screening, immunization, and child abuse reporting, and federal law relating to invasive physical examinations in accordance with the Protection of Pupil Rights Act (20 U.S.C.§1232h).

Commented [FA36]: Collected via federal assurances

2121.6 Interagency Teams

Schools shall participate in interagency teams as required by 33 V.S.A. §4303 and any other requirement of law.

Commented [FA37]: Snapshot: No formal measure
Integrated Field Review- Interviews and Observations

2122 Learning Environment

State Board Rule 2000 Education Quality Standards

2122.1 School Facilities and the Learning Environment

Each school shall maintain a safe, orderly, civil, flexible and positive learning environment, which is free from hazing, harassment and bullying and based on sound instructional and classroom management practices and clear discipline and attendance policies that are consistently and effectively enforced.

The design and operation of the school facilities shall be in full compliance with all state and federal fire, health, and safety, chemical and architectural standards.

Each school's comprehensive plan for responding to student misbehavior, as required by 16 V.S.A. §1161a(a), shall address student behavior, language, classroom attendance, clothing and treatment of property, as well as consequences for violations of policy and shall be clear and consistently enforced.

Each school shall observe due process requirements as set forth in Rule 4300 et seq.

2122.2 Access to Instructional Materials

Each school shall:

- a. provide a learning environment with sufficient supplies and infrastructure to allow for learning;
- b. develop, maintain, and expand as needed a collection of print, digital and technology resources, administered by a certified school library media specialist;
- c. ensure that the curriculum is supported by necessary digital and print resources;
- d. ensure that students, teachers, administrators and paraprofessionals have access to an organized collection of digital and print materials sufficient and appropriate to support all students in meeting or exceeding the current state and national standards at no cost to the student;
- e. provide students access to the library on a regular basis to use materials for reading, research, and for instruction in the skills needed to select and use information effectively;
- f. provide access to a variety of up-to-date information, assistive, and other technology to support students in meeting or exceeding the standards;
- g. provide broadband Internet service for students and educators to access educational resources;
- h. adopt and implement written policies on electronic resources, acceptable Internet usage, and procedures for handling complaints for both staff and students;
- i. support a schedule that provides opportunities for a library media specialist to collaborate with teachers as they integrate information research skills into their curriculum; and
- j. ensure that students are afforded the opportunity to learn the skills to locate, evaluate, synthesize, and to present information and ideas within content areas using technology integration.

Commented [FA38]: Snapshot- Part of Safe, Healthy Schools- student and staff climate survey and exclusionary discipline measure

Integrated Field Review- Observation and Interviews

Commented [FA39]: Snapshot- No formal measure

Integrated Field Review- Observation and Interviews

Commented [FA40]: Snapshot- No formal measure

Integrated Field Review- Observation and Interviews

Commented [FA41]: Snapshot- No formal measure

Integrated Field Review- Observation and Interviews

2123 State and Local Comprehensive Assessment System

2123.1 Participation in the State Comprehensive Assessment System

Each school shall administer assessments of student performance using methods developed by the State Board of Education under 16 V.S.A. §164 (9). Students who are unable to participate in district or state assessments shall be given an alternate assessment in accordance with law. Each school shall account for 100 percent of its students in regard to their participation in the state assessments.

Commented [FA42]: Snapshot- Assessment scores are lowered for non-participation

Integrated Field Review-None

2123.2 Development and Implementation of Local Comprehensive Assessment System

Each supervisory union shall develop, and each school shall implement, a local comprehensive assessment system that

- a. assesses the standards approved by the State Board of Education;
- b. employs a balance of assessment types, including but not limited to, teacher- or student-designed assessments, portfolios, performances, exhibitions and projects;
- c. includes both formative and summative assessments;
- d. enables decisions to be made about student progression and graduation, including measuring proficiency-based learning;
- e. informs the development of Personalized Learning Plans and student support;
- f. provides data that informs decisions regarding instruction, professional learning, and educational resources and curriculum; and
- g. reflects strategies and goals outlined in the district's Continuous Improvement Plan.

Commented [FA43]: Snapshot- No formal measure

Integrated Field Review- Observation and Interviews and artifact reviews

The performance criteria of the assessment system shall be clear and be communicated to teachers, administrators, students, parents and other community members. Students and parents shall be informed at least annually regarding progress toward achieving the standards. This includes providing information in students' native languages or otherwise accessible formats.

Commented [FA44]: Snapshot- No formal measure

Integrated Field Review- Observation and Interviews

Implementation and support by the Agency will be determined by the Secretary.

2124 Reporting of Results

As required in 16 V.S.A. 165(a)(2), each school shall report student and system performance results to the community at least annually in a format selected by the school board. The report shall at minimum include those elements listed in 16 V.S.A. 165a(2)(A-K).

Commented [FA45]: The snapshot will address these

The performance criteria of the school shall be clear and communicated to administrators, educators and other building staff.

Each supervisory union shall establish a secure student data system that enables regular access for teachers and administrators. Teachers shall have access to data on individual students whom they teach and aggregate data on student and system performance results. Administrators shall have access to individual student data and on student and system performance results.

For aggregate school data, in no case shall personally identifiable information on any student be revealed.

2125 Continuous Improvement Plan

A Continuous Improvement Plan, as required in 16 V.S.A. §165, shall be developed and implemented in each public school district. The plan shall be designed to improve the performance of all students enrolled in the district. If a school district comprises more than one school building, a combined plan for some or all the buildings may be developed. The plan, however, may reflect the different needs of individual schools.

The plan should be the overall planning and implementation document for the school, incorporating other planning requirements (either from the state, the federal government, local requirements, or external grant requirements) into a single planning document.

The plan shall be developed with the involvement of school board members, students, teachers, administrators, parents and other community members. The plan shall be reviewed at least annually for effectiveness toward meeting the stated goals, and shall be revised as necessary.

The plan shall include indicators provided by the Vermont Agency of Education as well as additional indicators determined locally. These indicators will identify student performance data obtained from state and local assessments and other information related to student performance which may include, but is not limited to, dropout and retention rates, attendance, course enrollment patterns and graduation rates. Indicators may also include data on school practices and leadership.

Agency support shall be differentiated in accordance with school needs, and shall work to reduce interventions for schools where student performance data indicates growth and success.

The school board shall approve the plan, which at minimum shall contain

- a. goals and objectives for improved student learning;
- b. educational strategies and activities specifically designed to achieve these goals, including professional learning of administrative and instructional staff;

Commented [FA46]: Submitted to the AOE for review

Snapshot: No formal measure

Integrated Field Review: Common artifact and typically discussed through interviews

- c. strategies and supports to ensure the school maintains a safe, orderly, civil and positive learning environment which is free from harassment, hazing and bullying; and
- d. required technical assistance from the Vermont Agency of Education as appropriate or determined by law.

2126 System for Determining Compliance with Education Quality Standards

2126.1 Filing of Continuous Improvement Plan

On a two-year cycle published by the Agency, each school is required to file a copy of the school's Continuous Improvement Plan for the current school year. This includes listing of the indicators (both those required by the Vermont Agency of Education and additional indicators as desired for use by the school) used for reflection and creation of the school's Continuous Improvement Plan; a description of the accomplishments, progress and changes regarding goals and strategies from the previous year's Continuous Improvement Plan and other evidence of meeting Education Quality Standards.

Commented [FA47]:

2126.2 Review, Secretary's Recommendations, and State Board Action

The Vermont Agency of Education will conduct a review of all Vermont schools using one or more of the following strategies:

1. All Continuous Improvement Plans will be reviewed by Agency staff, with assistance from other Vermont educators in a peer review process, as required or desired. Each school will receive feedback from this review.
2. To meet the state accountability standards (which comply with federal accountability requirements), schools will be expected to develop and revise their Continuous Improvement Plan based on the Secretary's recommendations, accountability status and student outcomes. The Agency may choose to differentiate support and requirements for individual schools based on identified needs.
3. On an annual basis, the Agency will identify schools for an Education Quality Standards Review. All schools, regardless of accountability status, will be eligible for this review. The Secretary of Education will determine the requirements and outcomes of this review, including a peer review system between schools. The review will be based on the requirements of this rule to ensure equity and improved outcomes for students.

Commented [RH48]: Every year we identify some schools for review.

We review a third of the school systems, with their member schools, for review every year.

2126.3 Further Review; Secretary's Recommendations; State Board Action

As required in 16 V.S.A. 165 (b), every two years the Secretary shall determine whether students in each Vermont public school are provided educational opportunities

State Board Rule 2000 Education Quality Standards

substantially equal to those provided in other public schools. If the Secretary determines that a school is not meeting the quality standards, he or she shall recommend actions that a district must take and offer technical assistance. If the school fails to meet the standards or make sufficient progress by the end of the next two-year period, recommendations will be made to the State Board of Education as outlined in 16 V.S.A. 165(b).

16 V.S.A. 165(f) regulates the process for an independent school to be designated as meeting Education Quality Standards, as well as the provision of technical assistance in the event that the State Board finds an independent school not meeting the standards or failing to make progress towards meeting the standards.

Commented [RH49]: Thetford Academy

Commented [FA50]: These give the foundation for Education Quality Reviews

2127 Variance and Waiver

Upon written request of a school board, and after opportunity for hearing, the State Board of Education may approve an alternative method for meeting the requirements of these rules when

- a. the alternative method is consistent with the intent of the rule;
- b. the variance permits the school board to carry out locally-established objectives; and
- c. the granting of the variance does not contravene any state or federal law, any federal regulation, or any rule of any state agency other than the State Board of Education, unless such rules themselves permit the granting of a waiver or variance.

Upon request of a school board, the Secretary may waive class and caseload size requirements where

- a. necessary to carry out locally-established objectives;
- b. student learning will not be adversely affected;
- c. classroom control will not be compromised; and
- d. it is otherwise in the best interests of student learning.

Unless exceptional circumstances are present, the Secretary shall respond to such requests within 10 days.

If any of these rules are in conflict with a provision in an existing collective bargaining agreement, the local board must provide an explanation to the Secretary to that effect, and if appropriate, a plan to address that conflict.

Commented [FA51]: Not assessed

2128 Effective Date

These rules, except as otherwise specified herein, shall become effective on 15 days after adoption is complete, in accordance with 3 V.S.A. §845(d).

Implementation and support by the Agency will be determined by the Secretary.

